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REASONS WHY ORAL ARGUMENT SHOULD BE HEARD 

Mr. Robinson requests oral argument in this matter because it presents a 

novel issue and concerns his right to due process and his Sixth Amendment right to 

counsel of choice. 
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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

The Appellant, Robert O. Robinson (“Mr. Robinson”), was charged in the 

United States District Court for the District of Rhode Island (“district court” or 

“trial court”) with violations of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841 and 846.  The district court had 

jurisdiction pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3231. 

The district court entered judgment in case number 1:11-cr-00147 on 

October 31, 2012.  (A. 11, 30).  On the same day, the district court entered its 

judgment revoking Mr. Robinson’s probation in case number 1:01-cr-00103.  (A. 

42, 46).  Mr. Robinson timely filed his notice of appeal as to both judgments on 

October 31, 2012.  (A. 11, 42).   

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291.  This Court 

entered case number 12-2349 on its docket on November 9, 2012, and entered case 

number 12-2336 on November 19, 2012.  The cases were consolidated on March 

11, 2013. 
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

Six days before trial, Mr. Robinson informed the district court that he did not 

want to proceed with his privately retained counsel and wanted to retain a new 

attorney.  The district court denied his motion and ordered that the trial 

proceedings would not be continued.  On the day of trial, Mr. Robinson renewed 

his request for leave to retain new counsel and was again denied.  He then elected 

to proceed pro se and moved for a continuance to prepare for trial.  The district 

court denied the motion.  Mr. Robinson represented himself at trial and a jury 

found him guilty. 

I. Did the district court’s denial of Mr. Robinson’s requests to continue 

the trial date to either retain new counsel or to prepare to try the case pro se violate 

his right to due process and his Sixth Amendment right to his choice of counsel? 

II. Was Mr. Robinson’s decision to proceed pro se voluntary and 

intelligent?   
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

  

 This is Mr. Robinson’s consolidated appeal of the district court’s judgments 

in two consolidated matters: no. 1:11-cr-00147 and no. 1:01-cr-00103. 

 No. 1:11-cr-00147:  Mr. Robinson and four other individuals were indicted 

in an eleven-count indictment on August 17, 2011.  (A. 13-19).  Mr. Robinson was 

charged as follows: 

Count 1: Conspiracy to distribute over 280 grams of 

cocaine base, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) and 

(b)(1)(A)(iii), § 846, and 18 U.S.C. § 2; 

 

Counts 2, 9, 10, and 11: Possession with intent to 

distribute 28 grams or more of cocaine base, in violation 

of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(B)(iii), and 18 U.S.C. 

§ 2; 

 

Counts 3-8: Possession with intent to distribute cocaine 

base, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C), 

and 18 U.S.C. § 2. 

 

(A. 13-19).   

 Following a two-day jury trial before the Honorable Mary M. Lisi, Mr. 

Robinson was found guilty on each count.  (A. 10; Tr. II: 186-187).  On October 

31, 2012, he was sentenced to 240 months incarceration on Counts 1-11 (A. 11, 

33-35; Tr. II: 229), 10 years of supervised release on Count 1, 5 years of 

supervised release on Counts 2-11, and a special assessment of $1,100 (A. 11, 33-

35; Tr. II: 230).  Mr. Robinson filed a timely notice of appeal on October 31, 2012.  

(A. 11, 37). 
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 No. 1:01-cr-00103: On October 10, 2001, Mr. Robinson was indicted on two 

counts of a violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841 (A. 44-45).  On December 3, 2001, he 

entered a change of plea and was adjudicated guilty.  (A. 40).  On February 22, 

2002, Mr. Robinson was sentenced to 84 months imprisonment on each count, 

running concurrently, with 5 years of supervised release.  (A. 40).  Mr. Robinson 

served almost 6 years of his 7 year sentence and was on supervised release when 

he was indicted in case number 1:11-cr-00147.  (Tr. II: 229). 

 On September 4, 2012, the district court held a preliminary revocation 

hearing and took judicial notice of the guilty verdict in case number 1:11-cr-00147.  

(A. 42; Tr. II: 195).  On September 11, 2012, Magistrate Judge Lincoln Almond 

issued a Report and Recommendation, recommending that the court find Mr. 

Robinson in violation of his supervised release conditions and deferring the matter 

to Judge Lisi for sentencing.  (A. 42). 

 On October 31, 2012, the same day as the sentencing for case number 1:11-

cr-00147, Judge Lisi sentenced Mr. Robinson to 24 months imprisonment, to run 

consecutively to the 240 month sentence imposed in case number 1:11-cr-00147.  

(A. 42; Tr. II: 229).  Mr. Robinson filed a timely notice of appeal on October 31, 

2012.  (A. 42, 48). 
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STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

A. Pretrial Proceedings 

Mr. Robinson was arrested on June 13, 2011, and incarcerated until his trial 

date.  (A. 3).  Attorney Stephen DiLibero represented Mr. Robinson at the initial 

appearance.  (A. 3).  On August 2, 2011, however, Mr. Robinson filed a pro se 

motion to terminate Attorney DiLibero’s representation.  (A. 3; Doc. 11).  On 

August 3, 2011, Attorney DiLibero filed a motion to withdraw, alleging a 

breakdown in communications with Mr. Robinson.  (A. 4; Doc. 12).   

On August 17, 2011, Magistrate Judge Almond held a hearing on Mr. 

DiLibero’s motion to withdraw.  Mr. Robinson confirmed that he still wanted new 

counsel.  Mr. Robinson also explained that he was unable to secure new counsel 

because prospective attorneys were reticent to discuss Mr. Robinson’s case while 

he was still formally represented by Mr. DiLibero.  (Tr. I:12).  Magistrate Judge 

Almond indicated his willingness to grant Mr. DiLibero’s motion to withdraw, but 

held the motion in abeyance until successor counsel was retained.  (Tr. I:13-14).  In 

addition, Magistrate Judge Almond secured Mr. DiLibero’s permission for Mr. 

Robinson to discuss his case with prospective attorneys.  (Tr. I:12).  Later that day, 

a grand jury returned an indictment against Mr. Robinson and four codefendants.  

(A:4; Doc. 15).   
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On August 31, 2011, Magistrate Judge Almond formally arraigned Mr. 

Robinson and held a first appearance on probation’s violation petition.  (A. 4; Tr. 

I:21-23).  The court asked whether Mr. Robinson had secured new counsel.  Mr. 

Robinson replied that he believed his family had retained Attorney Matthew Smith.  

However, because Attorney Smith had not entered a notice of appearance, the 

court proceeded with the arraignment and first appearance with Mr. DiLibero 

acting as counsel.  (Tr. I: 22-24).  Magistrate Judge Almond concluded the hearing 

by informing the parties that if Mr. Smith did not enter an appearance, a hearing 

would be held the following week to determine the status of Mr. Robinson’s 

representation.  (Tr. I:26). 

On September 7, 2011, the court held a hearing on the status of Attorney 

Smith’s representation.  Mr. Robinson indicated that his family had made partial 

payment for Mr. Smith’s retention, but requested a two week continuance to give 

his family time to pay the remainder of the retainer.  The Government did not 

object to the request.  The court granted the request and continued the matter to 

September 26, 2011.  (Tr. I:30-33). 

At the September 26, 2011, hearing, Mr. DiLibero indicated that he had 

discussed the matter with Attorney Smith.  According to Mr. DiLibero, Attorney 

Smith said he had been paid a partial retainer by Mr. Robinson’s family, but would 

not appear until he had been fully retained, which Mr. Smith anticipated would 
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occur within a week.  (Tr. I:36-39).   On October 7, 2011, Attorney Matthew Smith 

entered an appearance.  (A. 5; Doc. 40).  On October 11, 2011, the court issued a 

trial notice, scheduling the matter for impanelment on December 8, 2011.  (A. 5; 

Doc. 41).  Following multiple assented requests to continue the trial date to allow 

plea negotiations to progress, jury selection was ultimately set for June 12, 2012, 

before Judge Lisi. 

B. Proceedings on Jury Impanelment Day 

On June 12, 2012, the day of jury impanelment, Mr. Robinson told Judge 

Lisi that he did not want to proceed to trial with Attorney Smith.  (Tr. I:42).  Mr. 

Robinson explained that he and Attorney Smith met the previous weekend and 

because they were “not agreeing on anything,” Mr. Robinson informed Attorney 

Smith that he no longer desired his services.  (Tr. I:42).  Mr. Robinson also 

claimed that communication was a problem, and that Attorney Smith “does things, 

and he doesn’t even let me know.”  (Tr. I:42).   

Judge Lisi responded that were “80 people here today to pick a jury, so we’ll 

be picking a jury.”  (Tr. I:42).  Judge Lisi also explained: “I have met on several 

occasions with your lawyer…and he has assured me that he has provided you with 

all the information you need in this case and he has provided you with copies of 

the discovery.”  (Tr. I:43).  Finally, Judge Lisi suggested that Mr. Robinson’s 

reticence to begin trial was not dissatisfaction with counsel, but was for purposes 
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of delay: “[n]ow, it’s clear to me that you, for whatever reason, want to delay this 

matter; but it’s not going to be delayed…we will proceed today.” (Tr. I:43).   

Mr. Robinson pressed the issue.  He elaborated on his belief that Attorney 

Smith was not keeping him sufficiently apprised of pre-trial proceedings, and 

claimed that he did not believe Attorney Smith was working for him.  (Tr. I:43).     

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor, but my attorney, 

he didn’t even let me know the motions he put in or he 

did not come up and let me know we know had a pretrial.  

He came up after the pretrial and let me know all the 

things that were [sic] taking place. 

 

THE COURT: Well, that’s typical, Mr. Robinson.  That’s 

typical.  That’s not unusual. 

 

THE DEFENDANT: I don’t feel that he’s working for 

me.  I don’t feel - - 

 

(Tr. I:43).  Judge Lisi interrupted Mr. Robinson and explained that Attorney Smith 

had “been quite successful” on Mr. Robinson’s behalf in filing pre-trial motions 

and obtaining discovery from the government.  (Tr. I: 44).    

Mr. Robinson persisted: “Your Honor, what I don’t understand is how [sic] 

you want me to move forward with a lawyer if I can’t trust him.”  (Tr. I:44).  Judge 

Lisi reiterated her opinion that Attorney Smith’s pre-trial performance had been 

satisfactory, and advised Mr. Robinson to change out of prison garb so trial could 

commence.  (Tr.I:45).  The court recessed for thirty minutes while Mr. Robinson 

changed clothes.   
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When Mr. Robinson returned to the courtroom, he again voiced his desire to 

replace Attorney Smith: “I mean no disrespect to you or your courtroom, but I feel 

there’s a conflict between me and my lawyer, and I don’t wish to proceed with this.  

I want a new lawyer, and I feel like I’m being forced to do this.”  (Tr. I:46).  Judge 

Lisi asked Mr. Robinson what specific problems he had with Mr. Smith, and Mr. 

Robinson responded, “[w]ell, I asked Mr. Smith questions about my case that he 

has no knowledge of because he didn’t go over my evidence.”  (Tr. I:46).   

Judge Lisi continued to press Mr. Robinson for specific details regarding his 

dissatisfaction with Attorney Smith.  Mr. Robinson explained that Attorney Smith 

refused to file certain pre-trial motions, including a motion to suppress the 

Government’s warrantless surveillance and recording of the transactions at issue 

through its informant, and a motion to exclude the informant’s testimony due to 

reliability concerns.  (Tr. I:47-48).   In addition, Mr. Robinson explained that he 

retained Attorney Smith to “open a case” unrelated to the one at issue at trial, and 

was upset that Attorney Smith had not done so.  (Tr. I:55).     

The court asked Attorney Smith to respond to Mr. Robinson’s allegations.  

The court was satisfied with Attorney Smith’s explanations regarding his decision 

not to file the pre-trial motions, and explained that Mr. Robinson’s dissatisfaction 

with Attorney Smith’s work on the unrelated case was “neither here nor there.”  

(Tr. I:55).   Nonetheless, Mr. Robinson reiterated his wish: “Your Honor, like I 
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said, I feel that [there is] is a conflict between me and Mr. Smith.  I do not want 

him as my attorney.  I mean no disrespect to you or your courtroom, but I feel I’m 

getting forced into doing this.  I don’t want him as my attorney.”  (Tr. I:55).   

Judge Lisi reiterated her opinion that Mr. Smith had “worked very well on 

[Mr. Robinson’s] behalf” and that “we are going to proceed today with jury 

impanelment, and we will proceed next Monday to trial.”  (Tr. I:55).   The court 

continued: “…to the extent that you have moved for a new trial date or new 

impanelment date, that motion is denied.”  (Tr: I: 57).  Over Mr. Robinson’s 

repeated objections to Attorney Smith’s representation, the court impaneled the 

jury.  (Tr. I:57-59).  

C. Pro Se Filings Between Impanelment and Trial 

On June 14, 2012, Mr. Robinson filed a number of pro se motions.  (Doc. 

106-1).  Among the motions was a motion to dismiss Attorney Smith.  In the 

motion, Mr. Robinson alleged that Attorney Smith appeared unprepared for trial, 

was trying to force Mr. Robinson into accepting a plea, was not communicating 

with Mr. Robinson effectively, and had been retained to “open up a prior case” 

(unrelated to the criminal proceedings at issue here), but had failed to do so.  (Doc. 

106-1 at 2).  Mr. Robinson also stated he would rather represent himself than 

proceed with Attorney Smith.  (Doc. 106-1 at 2). 
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Mr. Robinson also filed a “Motion for Law Library,” which indicated he was 

“going pro se” at trial and needed “more time to get more knowledge of my case 

since my lawyer kept my paper work from me of what’s really going on in my 

case.  I need to do research on my rights and laws within our system.  Thank you.”  

(Doc. 106-1 at 3).  Finally, he filed a “Motion to go Pro Se Faretta Hearing.”  

(Doc. 106-1 at 4).  Therein, he claimed: “I [would] rather represent myself then put 

my life in the hands of a man [Attorney Smith] I will never be able to trust with my 

life!”  (Doc. 106-1 at 4).  Each of these pro se motions was “refused and returned” 

by the court on June 14 because, inter alia, Mr. Robinson was represented by Mr. 

Smith. 

D. Trial Proceedings 

Trial commenced six days later, on June 18, 2012.   Prior to opening 

statements, Mr. Robinson presented the contents of a motion he had filed four days 

earlier, on June 14, 2012, informed Judge Lisi that he had fired Attorney Smith 

“because I’d rather go pro se than have him as my lawyer.”  (Tr. I:142). Judge Lisi 

asked if Mr. Robinson was “prepared to go forward today?”  (Tr. I: 142).  Mr. 

Robinson responded, “No. I need a continuance your Honor, to have somebody 

lead me, my assistant.  So I need some time to hire an assistant to - - ”  (Tr. I:142).  

Judge Lisi interrupted Mr. Robinson: “Oh, no, no, no.  You don’t get to hire an 

assistant, Mr. Robinson.  We’ve selected a jury.  The jurors are in the building this 
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morning.  We’re ready to go.”  (Tr. I: 142).   The court continued: “And if you say 

you fired [Attorney Smith] on Friday, then what you should have been doing over 

the weekend was preparing to try the case yourself.”  (Tr. I:143). 

Judge Lisi then explained that Mr. Robinson could either proceed pro se, or 

have Mr. Smith represent him.  (Tr. I:144).  She asked if Mr. Robinson had any 

legal training, and he replied that he did not.  (Tr. I:144). Judge Lisi also told Mr. 

Robinson that she believed he was making a “huge mistake to proceed pro se since 

you are not trained in the law.”  (Tr. I:144).  Mr. Robinson responded that he 

believed he could represent himself better than Attorney Smith because he did not 

trust him.  (Tr. I:144). 

Judge Lisi ordered the case to proceed with Mr. Robinson acting pro se, with 

Attorney Smith acting as standby counsel.  (Tr. I:144).  Mr. Robinson replied that 

he refused to have Attorney Smith as standby counsel.  (Tr. I:145).  Judge Lisi 

insisted that Attorney Smith remain as standby counsel, because “otherwise you’re 

going to be walking into a land mine because you don’t know the rules.”  (Tr. 

I:145).  Mr. Robinson stated, “[i]t’s also my right to choose my own attorney or 

choose an assistant,” to which Judge Lisi replied, “[n]ot on the day of trial.” (Tr. 

I:145).  

After Mr. Robinson announced his decision to proceed pro se, the 

Government requested a sidebar.  (Tr. I: 153).  Attorney Smith and counsel for the 
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Government attended the bench conference.  Mr. Robinson did not.  The crux of 

the conversation regarded whether Mr. Robinson would be permitted to make his 

opening statement at the podium, or would do so from counsel’s table.  (Tr. I: 153).  

The court ultimately ruled that both counsel for the Government and Mr. Robinson 

would make their openings from their respective counsels’ tables to make “things 

look a little less odd…” (Tr. I: 153).  Counsel for the Government indicated that 

such positioning “might be an issue at closing, but we can deal with that down the 

road.  He may not be representing himself by that time.”  The court responded, 

“[h]e may change his mind at that point.”  

After the jury was sworn and the Government offered its opening statement, 

Mr. Robinson delivered his opening statement: “Today I'm defending myself. I 

fired my lawyer, Mr. Smith.  I've asked the Court for time to prepare myself for 

this matter.”  (Tr. I:179).  The judge sustained the government’s objection, and 

asked Mr. Robinson if he wished to make further opening statements, and Mr. 

Robinson declined.  (Tr. I:180).  During the trial, Mr. Robinson represented 

himself, making pro se objections and conducting pro se cross-examinations, with 

Attorney Smith as standby counsel.  He also delivered his closing argument pro se.  

(Tr. II:135).   

On June 20, 2012, the jury found Mr. Robinson guilty on all eleven counts 

of the indictment.  (A. 10; Tr. II:207).  Mr. Robinson filed a pro se motion for new 
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trial, alleging, inter alia, that he should have been afforded an opportunity to find a 

new lawyer once he fired Attorney Smith, and that he should have been granted a 

continuance so he could prepare a defense once he elected to proceed pro se.  (A. 

10; Doc. 122).  The motion for new trial was denied via a text order on October 31, 

2012.  (A. 11). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

This Court should remand for a new trial.  Mr. Robinson had a Sixth 

Amendment right to counsel of his choice.  That right did not grow weaker as Mr. 

Robinson’s trial date approached.  Instead, the timing of his request was a factor 

the district court should have weighed against his Sixth Amendment right.  The 

record reveals that no such weighing process occurred.  The district court denied 

his request because it was untimely, filed for the purpose of delay, and because it 

believed Mr. Robinson’s current counsel would afford Mr. Robinson a fair trial.  

However, whether Mr. Robinson’s counsel was competent to try the case should 

not have been part of the inquiry, because counsel was privately retained, not 

court-appointed.  In addition, the record does not support the district court’s 

findings that Mr. Robinson’s request was a delay tactic.  Accordingly, the denial of 

Mr. Robinson’s request to proceed to trial with counsel of his choice was arbitrary 

and unreasoned. 
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 Mr. Robinson’s decision to proceed pro se directly flowed from the district 

court’s refusal to allow him to proceed with his choice of counsel.  Mr. Robinson 

wanted counsel, and tried the case himself only because he was not afforded an 

opportunity to find new counsel.  Thus, his decision was not voluntary.  It was also 

not intelligent because the district court’s Faretta warning was inadequate, and he 

had virtually no time to prepare his own defense. 

ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY 

I. THE DISTRICT COURT’S DENIAL OF MR. ROBINSON’S 

REQUESTS TO CONTINUE THE TRIAL PROCEEDINGS TO 

EITHER FIND NEW COUNSEL OR PREPARE TO TRY THE CASE 

PRO SE VIOLATED HIS SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO 

COUNSEL OF CHOICE AND HIS RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS. 

  A. Standard of Review  

 

 This Court reviews the denial of a request for continuance for abuse of 

discretion. United States v. Maldonado, 708 F.3d 38, 42 (1st Cir. 2013).  

  B. Argument on the Merits 

 “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right...to have the 

Assistance of Counsel for his defence.” U.S. Const. amend. VI.  “The right to 

select counsel of one’s choice” is “the root meaning of that constitutional 

guarantee.”  United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 147-148 (2006); cf. 

Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 53 (1932) (“It is hardly necessary to say that, the 

right to counsel being conceded, a defendant should be afforded a fair opportunity 
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to secure counsel of his own choice.”).  While district courts “must recognize a 

presumption in favor of petitioner’s counsel of choice,” this presumption may be 

overcome in certain circumstances.  Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S. 153, 164 

(1988) (emphasis added).   

 In assessing whether the presumption in favor a defendant’s right to choose 

his own counsel is outweighed by countervailing principles, one of the factors this 

Court considers is the impact on “reasonable and orderly court procedure.” 

Woodard, 291 F.3d at 106 (quoting United States v. Poulack, 556 F.2d 83, 86 (1st 

Cir. 1977)).  Thus, when a defendant seeks new counsel, this Court weighs his 

“interest in retaining counsel of his choice against the public's interest in the 

prompt, fair and ethical administration of justice.”  Id. (quoting United States v. 

Richardson, 894 F.2d 492, 496 (1st Cir. 1990)).  “Only an unreasoning and 

arbitrary insistence upon expeditiousness in the face of a justifiable request for 

delay violates the right to the assistance of counsel.”  Id. (quoting Morris v. Slappy, 

461 U.S. 1, 11-12 (1983)).   

 Finally, a violation of the right to counsel of choice is a structural 

constitutional error, impervious to harmless error review.  Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 

U.S. at 150.   Whether or not a defendant was actually prejudiced by the denial of 

his right to counsel of his choosing is of no import.  In Gonzalez-Lopez, the 
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Supreme Court explained that the right to counsel of choice is “the root meaning” 

of the Sixth’s Amendment’s constitutional guarantee, and that, 

[i]t is unnecessary to conduct an ineffectiveness or prejudice inquiry 

to establish a Sixth Amendment violation.  Deprivation of the right is 

“complete” when the defendant is erroneously prevented from being 

represented by the lawyer he wants, regardless of the quality of the 

representation he received. To argue otherwise is to confuse the right 

to counsel of choice—which is the right to a particular lawyer 

regardless of comparative effectiveness—with the right to effective 

counsel—which imposes a baseline requirement of competence on 

whatever lawyer is chosen or appointed.    

 

Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. at 147-8.  In sum, the improvident denial of a 

defendant’s request to proceed with his choice of lawyer requires a new trial. 

 In this case, Mr. Robinson unequivocally invoked his right to representation 

of his choice of counsel on June 12, 2012, the day of jury impanelment.  To wit, he 

told the district court he had previously discharged Attorney Smith.  (Tr. I:42).  To 

show he was not bluffing, or “gaming the system” to buy more time, he reiterated 

his discharge of Attorney Smith on the record, asserting, “I want a new lawyer” 

(Tr. I:46) and “I don’t want [Attorney Smith] as my attorney.”  (Tr. I:55).  When 

rebuffed, he asked, “but don’t I have the right to choose my own counsel?”
1
    

                                           
1
 Pursuant to Rule 1.16 of the Rhode Island Disciplinary Rules of Professional 

Conduct, Attorney Smith should have moved to withdraw from the case following 

Mr. Robinson’s discharge.  See also United States v. Gaffney, 469 F.3d 211, 216 

(1st Cir. 2006) (citing rule and noting that discharge and withdrawal of attorney are 

indicia of a defendant attempting to exercise his right to chosen counsel, rather 

than attempting to delay proceedings). 
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 While the district court ultimately construed Mr. Robinson’s request as a 

motion to continue the trial proceedings (Tr. I: 57), it correctly recognized that the 

impetus for the motion was Mr. Robinson’s desire to choose new counsel. (Tr. I: 

56).  Regardless of the label affixed to Mr. Robinson’s request, a review of the jury 

impanelment transcript makes abundantly clear that Mr. Robinson was attempting 

to exercise his Sixth Amendment right to counsel of his choosing.  The district 

court denied his request.  Thus, the operative question for this Court is whether the 

district court’s denial of Mr. Robinson’s request to proceed with his choice of 

counsel constituted a violation of his Sixth Amendment rights. 

 As a matter of law, this inquiry begins with a presumption in Mr. 

Robinson’s favor.  See Wheat, 486 U.S. at 164 (district courts must recognize a 

presumption in favor of a defendant’s counsel of choice).  Of course, the 

presumption in favor of a defendant’s right to his counsel of choice can be 

overcome by competing interests.  Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. at 151-2.  For 

instance, defendants do not have a right to lawyers that are not admitted to a 

court’s bar, or lawyers saddled with conflicts of interest.  Id. at 152.  In addition, 

the right to choose one’s lawyer does not extend to defendants who require court-

appointed counsel.  Id.  A court is also free to weigh “the needs of fairness,” or the 

demands of its calendar against a defendant’s right to counsel of choice.  Id.  

However, while a court’s busy calendar is a valid consideration, insistence on 
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expeditiousness at the expense of a defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to proceed 

with his counsel of choice must be reasoned, and cannot be arbitrary.  Morris v. 

Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 11-12 (1983). 

 Here, the district court denied Mr. Robinson’s request to proceed with 

counsel of his choosing because: (1) the request was too late and a panel of jurors 

was waiting to be picked; and (2) it found Mr. Robinson’s claim that he did not 

trust Attorney Smith to best protect his interests mere subterfuge for his real 

purpose: delay.  Neither reason constitutes a valid basis for denying Mr. 

Robinson’s Sixth Amendment right.   

 First, the district court’s decision that Mr. Robinson’s request was voiced too 

late and that the presence of a waiting jury pool outweighed the exercise of his 

right to counsel of his choice was unreasoned and arbitrary.  Mr. Robinson 

requested a delay of all trial proceedings before the jury was empaneled, on June 

12, 2011.  The district court denied Mr. Robinson’s motion to continue the 

impanelment and his request to continue the trial.  The district court stated, “we are 

going to proceed today with jury impanelment, and we will proceed next Monday 

to trial.”  (Tr. I:55) (emphasis added).   The court dispensed with Mr. Robinson’s 

request by stating: “…to the extent that you have moved for a new trial date or new 

impanelment date, that motion is denied.”  (Tr: I: 57).   
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 Although Mr. Robinson’s request six days before trial may have impacted 

the district court’s calendar, the district court never suggested its calendar was 

immutable, or that granting his request would be significantly disruptive.  In fact, 

the district court never mentioned how accommodating Mr. Robinson’s request 

would affect its docket.  Compare State v. Garcia, 75 P.3d 313, 321 (Mont. 2003) 

(finding the right to choose one’s counsel should not have yielded to the 

“administration of justice” where “the record fails to show that a continuance 

would have significantly inconvenienced the court”) with People v. Doebke, 1 

Cal.App.3d 931, 940, 81 Cal.Rptr. 391, 396 (1969) (finding denial of right to 

choice of counsel on basis of court calendaring needs appropriate where “the trial 

judge, in a lengthy and meticulous review of the trial calendar, ably demonstrated” 

that a continuance would have disrupted both its civil and criminal trial calendars); 

see also United States v. Williams, 576 F.3d 385, 390 (7th Cir. 2009) (district 

court’s denial of continuance filed four days before trial to give substitute counsel 

adequate time to prepare was arbitrary because no evidence suggested a delay 

would have burdened the court, noting that the district court never consulted its 

calendar to look for an alternative date).  

 In addition, the district court never asked Mr. Robinson or Attorney Smith 

how long a continuance was necessary to substitute counsel and prepare for trial, 

which suggests the district court simply considered any delay unacceptable.  See, 
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e.g., United States v. Sellers, 645 F.3d 830, 837-38 (7th Cir. 2011) (finding district 

court’s denial of request for right to counsel of choice made five days before trial 

arbitrary where district court spoke generically of how continuances burden other 

litigants and the court's calendar, but failed to inquire how long substitute counsel 

would need to prepare adequately for trial evidences a failure to actually balance 

the right to choice of counsel against the needs of fairness, and suggests that the 

district court unreasonably viewed any delay as unacceptable); see also Williams, 

576 F.3d at 390 (“The failure to inquire how long the defense needs to prepare 

suggests that the district court unreasonably considered any delay unacceptable: 

That sort of rigidity can only be characterized as arbitrary.”);  

 More importantly, the district court never asked the Government whether it 

objected to a continuance, and no record evidence suggests the Government would 

have been prejudiced beyond the standard inconvenience that accompanies any 

trial continuance.  This makes clear that the district court did not deny Mr. 

Robinson’s request out of a sense of fairness to the Government, but instead made 

its decision based solely on the inconvenience to the waiting jurors and its 

calendar.  See Linton v. Perini, 656 F.2d 207, 209 (6th Cir. 1981) (trial court may 

interfere with the defendant's right to counsel of his own choice and require the 

case to proceed if granting the request would prejudice, as opposed to 

inconvenience, the prosecution); see also United States v. Bentvena, 319 F.2d 916, 
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935-6 (2d Cir. 1963) (no abuse of discretion because “the government had grave 

interests at stake in seeing that further procrastination be avoided”).  

 In sum, the district court denied Mr. Robinson’s constitutional right to 

proceed to trial with the counsel of his choosing based on the inconvenience it 

would cause to the court, without asking the defense how long it needed, without 

seeking the Government’s position on the issue, and without consulting its trial 

calendar to assess how long the proceedings would have been delayed.  Thus, it 

appears the district court never weighed Mr. Robinson’s right to counsel of his 

choosing against the need for the orderly administration of justice.  Instead, the 

court decided that the need to avoid any delay whatsoever trumped Mr. Robinson’s 

constitutional right.  As a result, the first basis for the district court’s decision to 

deny Mr. Robinson’s request was unreasoned and arbitrary. 

 So too was the second.  The district court believed, with absolutely no 

factual support, that Mr. Robinson’s request was made solely to delay the 

proceedings:  “[n]ow, it’s clear to me that you, for whatever reason, want to delay 

this matter; but it’s not going to be delayed.” (Tr. I:43).  The district court 

articulated no basis for its belief that Mr. Robinson’s request was dilatory, and 

there was none.  He was in prison, and would have remained in prison throughout 

any continuance period.  See, e.g., Williams, 576 F.3d at 390 (noting that a 

defendant’s incarceration at time of continuance request is evidence the 
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defendant’s request is not made to delay); see also Carlson v. Jess, 526 F.3d 1018, 

1026 (7th Cir. 2008) (same). 

 Further, although the case had been continued previously, there is no 

evidence of undue delay or dilatory tactics on Mr. Robinson’s part.  Mr. Robinson 

hired his first attorney, Attorney DiLibero, in June 2011, and moved to dismiss 

him in August 2011, before Mr. Robinson was even indicted.  The court continued 

the matter for two months in order to allow Mr. Robinson to hire new counsel, and 

in October 2011, Attorney Smith filed his appearance. The time period between 

Mr. Robinson’s first and second retained attorneys was thus only two months, did 

not result in an undue delay of the trial, and reflected diligence on behalf of Mr. 

Robinson and his family in trying to fund his defense.   

 After Attorney Smith’s appearance, the district court ordered a series of 

continuances from October 2011 to June 2012.  However, every motion to 

continue was either not at Mr. Robinson’s request or was assented to by the 

Government.  Mr. Robinson made his first request for a continuance on the first 

day the case was scheduled for impanelment, and prior to impanelment.  Mr. 

Robinson’s request was thus not yet another in a number of requests to delay the 

trial.  In addition, Attorney Smith was Mr. Robinson’s second attorney.  See, e.g., 

Maldonado, 708 F.3d at 40-2 (defendant had already received nine continuances 

and had five previous lawyers).  Thus, the court’s characterization of Mr. 
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Robinson’s exercise of his right to counsel of his choosing as a delay tactic was 

arbitrary and unreasonable. 

 It is important to note that a significant part of the district court’s rationale 

for denying Mr. Robinson’s request was its belief that Attorney Smith was 

competent and ready for trial.  In other words, the district court denied Mr. 

Robinson’s request, at least in part, because the court believed Mr. Robinson 

would have a fair trial with Attorney Smith at the helm.  Because Attorney Smith 

was privately retained counsel, as opposed to court-appointed counsel, this inquiry 

was irrelevant to Mr. Robinson’s request.  Compare Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. at 

140 (when a defendant has privately retained counsel, “The right to counsel of 

choice, however, commands not that a trial be fair, but that a particular guarantee 

of fairness be provided—to wit, that the accused be defended by the counsel he 

believes to be best.”) with United States v. Allen, 789 F.2d 90 (1st Cir. 1986) 

(describing steps court must take when defendant requests change in court-

appointed counsel, including need to ascertain reason for defendant’s 

dissatisfaction with current counsel, and in light of those reasons, whether the 

defendant can mount an adequate defense with current counsel). 

Finally, the district court erred when it denied Mr. Robinson’s renewed 

request for a continuance on the eve of trial.  Although the court already denied his 

motion to continue the trial date and although Mr. Robinson attempted to discharge 
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Attorney Smith at the impanelment proceedings, he renewed his efforts via pro se 

filings on June 14, 2012 (discussed supra at 11-12), and on the first day of trial.  

After Mr. Robinson indicated his desire to proceed pro se, he asked for a 

continuance, which the district court denied: “And if you say you fired [Attorney 

Smith] on Friday, then what you should have been doing over the weekend was 

preparing to try the case yourself.”  (Tr. I:143). 

The denial of Mr. Robinson’s request for a continuance after the court 

recognized his decision to proceed pro se violated Mr. Robinson’s Sixth 

Amendment right to counsel, as well as his right to due process.  See, e.g., Carlson 

v. Jess, 526 F.3d 1018, 1024-5 (7th Cir. 2008) (holding that a request for a 

continuance for the purpose of substituting counsel implicates the right to counsel, 

as well the right to due process).  At best, Mr. Robinson had a weekend to prepare 

for trial, assuming he began feverishly preparing for trial the second he filed his 

motion to proceed pro se.   

It is beyond dispute that a weekend, even for an accomplished attorney with 

access to the Library of Congress, is an insufficient amount of time to prepare for a 

conspiracy trial.  Once it established that Mr. Robinson would be defending 

himself, the court abused its discretion when it decided not to grant a continuance, 

especially without even a cursory investigation of the consequences of doing so.  

See United States v. Francois, 715 F.3d 21, 27 (1st Cir. 2013) (after deciding to let 
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defendant proceed pro se “shortly before impanelment,” giving him 20 days to 

prepare for trial); see also United States v. Farias, 618 F.3d 1049, 1054 (9th Cir. 

2010) (holding that defendant’s Sixth Amendment rights were violated when 

district court informed defendant it would honor his eve of trial request to proceed 

pro se but that it would not grant a continuance to allow him to prepare; a 

defendant “does not simply have the right to represent himself, but rather has the 

right to represent himself meaningfully.  Meaningful representation requires time 

to prepare.”); see also Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 49 (1932) (“It is vain to 

give the accused a day in court with no opportunity to prepare for it …”) (internal 

quotation marks omitted).     

 

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DEPRIVED MR. ROBINSON OF HIS 

RIGHT TO COUNSEL BECAUSE HIS REQUEST TO PROCEED 

PRO SE WAS NOT VOLUNTARY AND WAS GRANTED WITHOUT 

AN ADEQUATE FARETTA INQUIRY. 

 A. Standard of Review  

 

 This Court reviews the district court’s decision that a defendant may proceed 

pro se for abuse of discretion.  United States v. Woodard, 291 F.3d 95, 109 (1st 

Cir. 2002).   

 B. Argument on the Merits 

 “Because of the disadvantages to a defendant that inure from pro se 

representation, a defendant must ‘knowingly and intelligently’ waive his right to 
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counsel before he may be permitted to proceed pro se.”  United States v. Kneeland, 

148 F.3d 6, 11 (1st Cir. 1998) (quoting Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 464–65, 

(1938)). Unless the waiver is clear and unequivocal, a court should not deprive a 

defendant of his right to counsel.   United States v. Betancourt-Arretuche, 933 F.2d 

89, 92 (1st Cir. 1991).  When a defendant seeks to proceed pro se, the trial judge 

must determine whether the defendant's waiver is “intelligent and competent.”  

United States v. Proctor, 166 F.3d 396, 402 (1st Cir. 1999). “In discharging this 

responsibility, the trial judge must keep in mind the strong presumption against 

waiver and ‘investigate as long and as thoroughly as the circumstances of the case 

before him demand.’”  Francois, 715 F.3d at 30 (quoting Von Moltke v. Gillies, 

332 U.S. 708 (1948)).  This inquiry requires the trial court to warn the defendant 

“of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, so that the record will 

establish that ‘[the defendant] knows what he is doing and his choice is made with 

eyes open.’” Id. (quoting Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 835 (1975)).   

 Mr. Robinson’s choice to proceed pro se was not voluntary.  He wanted a 

lawyer, but not Attorney Smith.  He made that clear in his motion to proceed pro 

se: “I [would] rather represent myself then put my life in the hands of a man 

[Attorney Smith] I will never be able to trust with my life!”  (Doc. 106-1 at 4).  He 

also made it clear on the record.  The following is the entirety of the district court’s 

inquiry concerning Mr. Robinson’s decision to proceed pro se: 
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THE COURT: We're going to proceed. Mr. Smith can either represent 

you or if you insist on proceeding pro se -- I mean, you have no 

training in the law, do you? 

 

MR. ROBINSON: No, your Honor. 

 

THE COURT: No. I think you are making a huge mistake to proceed 

pro se since you are not trained in the law. 

 

MR. ROBINSON: I feel I would represent myself better than 

Attorney Smith because I don’t trust him. 

 

THE COURT: All right. So you’re prepared to go forward today 

representing yourself, and Mr. Smith can be your standby counsel. 

 

MR. ROBINSON: I refuse to have Mr. Smith as my standby counsel. 

 

THE COURT: Well, I’m going to insist that he remain as your 

standby counsel so that you have someone at the table who can advise 

you as to the rules of evidence and that sort of thing. Otherwise you’re 

going to be walking into a land mine because you don’t know the 

rules. 

 

MR. ROBINSON: It’s also my right to choose my own attorney or 

choose an assistant. 

 

THE COURT: Not on the day of trial, Mr. Robinson. 

 

MR. ROBINSON: Well, you forced me to go into this trial. 

 

THE COURT: No, I did not, Mr. Robinson. 

 

MR. ROBINSON: Yes, you did. 

 

(Tr. I:144-145). 

 

 As explained above, Mr. Robinson had a Sixth Amendment right to proceed 

with his choice of counsel.  The district court’s denial of that right was the impetus 
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for Mr. Robinson’s choice to proceed pro se.  Therefore, his choice was not 

voluntary.  It was the result of a prior infringement on his Sixth Amendment right 

to counsel of his choosing. 

 In addition, once Mr. Robinson decided to proceed pro se after the denial of 

his request to proceed with a different lawyer, the district court failed to conduct an 

adequate Faretta inquiry.  The colloquy regarding Mr. Robinson’s decision to 

represent himself does not establish he made it “with eyes open.”  The district 

court never advised him of the seriousness of the charges and the penalties he 

faced. See, e.g., United States v. Manjarrez, 306 F.3d 1175, 1180 (1st Cir. 2002) 

(court “exhaustively questioned the defendant to ensure that he understood not 

only the gravity of the charges facing him and their potential penalties upon 

conviction, but also his obligation to comply with the rules of the court when 

presenting his case”).  The district court did not describe “various substantive and 

procedural aspects of the trial, including...the government’s burden of proof, 

opening and closing arguments, questioning of witnesses, the concept of 

reasonable doubt...” Woodard, 291 F.3d at 109.  

 While the district court did warn Mr. Robinson that he was making a “huge 

mistake” and that he was “walking into a land mine,” she did not warn him of the 

“dire consequences” of self-representation with any degree of specificity.  

Manjarrez, 306 F.3d at 1180.  Nor did she “repeatedly invite him to reconsider his 
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decision.”  Id. While Mr. Robinson did have prior experience with the criminal 

justice system, the district court did not attempt to assess whether that prior 

experience would have any bearing on his ability to represent himself at trial.   

 The Government will likely argue that this Court’s recent Francois decision 

controls.  It does not.  Before discussing the finer points of distinction between 

Francois and the case sub judice, it is critical to highlight two general points that 

should render Francois inapplicable here.  First, Francois was represented by 

appointed counsel.  He had no constitutional right to proceed with his counsel of 

choice, and it was well within the district court’s discretion to deny him court-

appointed lawyer number three.  Thus, Francois’ decision to proceed pro se was 

made from a constitutionally sanitized starting point.  It was voluntary.  Mr. 

Robinson’s was not.  His choice was made directly on the heels of an infringement 

of his right to choice of counsel, and is thus distinguishable at its origin from 

Francois. 

 In addition, Francois had twenty days to prepare for trial.  He filed pre-trial 

motions and argued a hearing on one of them.  Id. at 28.  Mr. Robinson had a 

weekend to prepare for trial, and his decision was not made official until the day of 

trial.  The following transcript excerpt provides an illustration of the amount of 

time that passed between the district court’s decision to let Mr. Robinson proceed 

pro se, and the commencement of trial: 
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ATTORNEY SMITH: He has indicated that he wishes to proceed pro 

se.  As the Court has indicated, I will sit next to him and assist; but 

that is his desire, and I don’t think either you, me or anybody else is 

going to change his mind on that, your Honor. 

 

THE COURT: Okay.  Mr. Robinson, how long will your opening 

statement be? 

 

MR. ROBINSON: Excuse me? 

 

THE COURT: How long will your opening statement be? 

 

MR. ROBINSON: To the jury? 

 

THE COURT: Yes. 

 

MR. ROBINSON: About a minute or two. 

 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Excellent.  Are you still insisting on going 

forward in your prison attire? 

 

MR. ROBINSON: Yes. 

 

THE COURT: Okay.  We’ll take a short recess so that we can bring 

the jury in. 

 

(Tr. I: 148-9)
2
.  Francois had weeks to mount his own defense.  Robinson had 

minutes.  On that basis alone, the two cases are not comparable. 

 Even if they are, Francois is distinguishable.  Admittedly, the Faretta 

inquiry in Francois was similar to the one issued by the district court in this case.  

As here, in Francois, the district court did not go beyond “dire generalizations” 

                                           
2
 In the interest of full disclosure, it should be noted that after this exchange, a few 

pre-trial issues were heard before the jury entered, although no recess was taken.  

(Tr. I: 149-156). 
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(warning that self-representation was a “terrible idea” and a “catastrophic 

mistake”) to give a specific example of the consequences of self-representation that 

might enhance a layman’s understanding of the significance of the decision to 

proceed without counsel.  Francois, 715 F.3d at 30.  This Court noted that phrases 

like “catastrophic mistake” do not convey in concrete terms the sentencing range 

the defendant would likely face if he were convicted.  Id.  This Court also noted 

that the Faretta inquiry in Francois was deficient because the district court did not 

explain that the defendant might have defenses that only a lawyer would 

appreciate, or explain that the court could not give advice or guidance during the 

trial.  Id.   

 Notwithstanding the imperfect Faretta colloquy, this Court held that “the 

record amply supports the lower court’s conclusion that [the defendant] was fully 

aware of the disadvantages he would face as a pro se defendant.”  Id.  In support, 

the Francois court cited the pretrial record, which demonstrated that the defendant 

was actively involved in preparing for his own defense.  Id.  For instance, at the 

hearings on Francois’ pro se pre-trial motions, the court engaged the defendant in 

several lengthy discussions, and during each of these discussions, he was lucid, 

articulate, and engaged.  Id.  In addition, the record conclusively showed that 

Francois knew his “worst case” sentencing scenario, and the district court 

explained the complicated nature of the federal sentencing guidelines. Id.  Finally, 
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Francois made arguments on his own behalf demonstrating that he had personally 

conducted extensive legal research and was fully aware of the nature of the charges 

against him.  Id.  

 The imperfect Faretta warning in Francois was forgiven because the record 

established that the defendant knew the consequences of self-representation.  The 

record here does not yield the same confidence.  Unlike Francois, Mr. Robinson 

was not actively involved in his defense.  Nor did he advance arguments 

demonstrating any legal acumen.  The record does not demonstrate that he received 

advice regarding the potential sentence.  Although he need not prove harmful error, 

it is worth noting that his performance at trial was predictably woeful.  Other than 

his representation to the jury that he fired his lawyer and had requested more time 

to prepare his defense, he delivered no opening statement.  His cross examinations 

were ineffective, and his closing statement was repeatedly interrupted by sustained 

objections.    

 In sum, Mr. Robinson’s decision to represent himself was involuntary.  It 

flowed directly from the denial of his constitutional right to choose his own 

counsel.  It was also unintelligent.  He had no time to prepare, did not receive an 

adequate Faretta warning, and nothing in the record reveals that he appreciated the 

dangers the Faretta warning was designed to convey. 
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CONCLUSION 

This Court should remand for a new trial.  Mr. Robinson had a Sixth 

Amendment right to counsel of his choice.  That right did not grow weaker as Mr. 

Robinson’s trial date approached.  Instead, the timing of his request was a factor 

the district court was permitted to weigh against his right.  The record reveals that 

no such weighing process occurred, and that the denial of Mr. Robinson’s request 

to proceed to trial with counsel of his choice was arbitrary and unreasoned. 

This error begat Mr. Robinson’s decision to proceed pro se.  He wanted 

counsel, and tried the case himself only because he was not afforded an 

opportunity to find new counsel once he realized his dissatisfaction with current 

counsel.  Thus, his decision was not voluntary.  It was also not intelligent.  He was 

not warned of the perils of defending himself, and had virtually no time to prepare 

to do so. 

Because the district court’s revocation of Mr. Robinson’s probation was 

predicated on his conviction at trial, it should be vacated. 
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October 31,2012

It is'ordered that the defenda¡t must notify the United Slates attomey for tlús dist¡ict within 30 days of any change of narne, residence,
or rnaiünladdress until all fines, restitution, costs, änd special assessments iníposed by this judgnrent ue fully paid. If ordércd to pay restitution,
the defenäant must Fd'tify the qéurt and Urüted Siates ahorney of material chranges iñ ecoñor¡ùc ci¡cumstanbes.
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Signàh.úe ófJudge

Name nnd Title of Judge

Mary M, Lisi

Chief Judgei -'
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ÂO 2458 (Itev. 09/08) Judgn¡ent in a Cri¡ninal Cosc
Sheet lA

Judemeut-P¡ec 2 of 7
DEFENDANTT Robert O. Robinson

ADDITIONA.L COI]NTS OF' CONVICT'ION

Title & Section

21 U,s,ç. $$ 8a1(a)(1),
(bX1Xc), and 18 U.S.C, S 2

21 U.S,c, $$ 8a1(a)(1),
(bX1Xc), and 18 U,S.C, $ 2

Possession with lntent to Dlstrìbute and Distrlbutlon of a
mixture containlng a detectable amount of Cocalne Base;
Aldlng & Abetting

Nafure of Offense Offegse EryLed

Possession wlth lntent to Distribute anrj Dishibution.of a , March 9, 2.011

mixture containlng a deiectabie.amou'nt of Cocalne Ba'se;
Aidlng & Abetting

March22,2011

March 29, 201 1

Count

'lV

vil

vilt

VI21 U.s.c. $$ Bal(a)(1),
(bX1Xc), and 1B U,S.C, $ 2

Possesslon with lntent to Dlstribute arid Dlstributlon of a
mixture containing a detectable amount of Cocalne Base;
Aldlng & Abetting

21 U,S.c. S$ 841(aX1),
(bX1Xc), and 1B U,S.C. $ 2

21 U.s,c. $$ Ba1(a)(1),
(bX1Xc), and te u.s.c. 5 z

Possession with lntent to Dlstrlbute and Distribution of a

mlxture contalnlng a detectable amount of Cocaine Basei
Alding & Abetting

Aprll 14, 201 'l

Possession with lntent to Distribute and Distribution of a
mlxture contalning a delectable amount of Cocalne. Base;
Alding & Abetting

'Aprll21,2ai1

Possession with lntent to Distribute and Distrlbution of 28
Grams or more of a mixture containlng Cocalne Base; Aiding
& Abetting

May 5, 201 1

Possession wlth lntent to Distribute and Distributlon of 28
'Grams or more of a mlxture coniaining Cocaine Base; Alding ' May 17, 20-1 1

& Abettjng

Possession with lntent to Dlstribute and Distrlbutlon of 28
Grams or more of a mixture containlng Cocalne Basel Aiding
& Abetting

June 2,2011

-21 U,S,C, SS
(b)(1)(B)(ri),
u.s.c. s 2

841(a) (1),
and 1B

IX

21 u.s,c, $$ 841(a)(1),
(b) (1) (B)(ili), and 1B

u.s,c. s 2

21 U.s.c, $S sa1(a)(1),
(b) (1) (B)(lll), and 1B
u,s.c. s 2

X

XI

Addendum 2
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Case 1:1-1-cr-00147-ML-LDA Document 164 Filed 71-lQ7lI2 Page 3 of 7 PagelD #',612
AO 2458 (ßev, 09/08) Judemont in Crimfurol Cnse

Sheel 2 - Irhprisonment

Judgment - Page 3 .,. of 7

DEFENDANT: Robert O. Robinson
CASE-N.UIVÍBER -I :.II.GROO147:01

XNdPRISONMEI\{T
The defenda¡t is hereby comrnitted to the custody of the United St¿tes Bu¡eau of Prisoru to be imprisoned for a

total term of:

240 months to Counts l-Xl to be served concurrently with each other.

E Tile cou¡t malçes the following recommendations to the Bu¡eau of Prisons:

Ø n 
" 

defenda¡t is æmanded to the custody of the United States Manllal.

fl The defendant shall su¡render to tlre United States Marshal for this district:

Eat E a.m. F p'* on

tr as notified by the United States Ma¡shal.

E ']lre defendant slull surrendei for service of sentence at the institution designated by tlrc Bureau of Prisons

E before 2 p.m. on

E æ notifTed by tlrc United Srates Manhal.

D as noti.fiedby the Probation orPretial Services Office.

RETURN

I have executed tlús judgment as follows:

Ddendant de[vered on /3/f,¿" /'Z* ,"lP¿"4
, with a certified copy of this judgment

UNITED STATES MAJTSHAL

Addendum 3
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Case l-:l-l--cr-00147-ML-LDA Document l-64 Filed LLl07lLZ Page 4 of 7 pagetD #: 6i_3

AO 2458 ß¿v. 09/08) Judgrnent in a C¡i¡ni¡rat Case
Sheet 3 - Supervised Relense

DEFENDANT: Robert O. Robinson Judgrnent-Page 4 ot 7

CASE NUMBER: I :1 1 cR00147-01 ML
SUPERVTSBD R,EI,EASE

Upon release û'otn irnprisorunent, the defendaut shall be on supervised I'elease for a tem of :

10 years as to Count l; 5 years as to Counts ll-Xl; all counts to run concurrently with each other,

The dqfendant nrust report to the probation office in the district to wl¡ich the defenda¡rt is released within 72 hou¡s ofrelease from the
custody ofthe Bu¡eau ofPrisons.

The defeudant shall not corrunit a¡rother federal, state or local crime.

The deferda¡rt shall not unlawfully possess a coutrolled substance. The defendant sl¡all refrain frour auv unlawful use of a conholled
s.ubstatlce, The defendant shall súbñrit to one ò'ug test within l5 days of release frorn irnprisorunent arril at least two periodic drug tests
thet'eafter, as determined by the court.

tr 
ilHrior"r"o"r,*T.u.Tglig. ?gg:f?ïil.:jffTo.d, 

based on the court's detenniuatiorr that the defendant poses a low rislc of

ff lt. defendaut shall not possess a fireauu, anunuuition, destructive device, or any othel clangerous tveapou. (Checþ ìfappltcable,)

d The defendant shall coopårate in the collection of DNA as directed by the probation officer', (Check, f apptícattte.)

.u

D The defendant shall participate iu an approved program for domestic violence. (Check, tJ appttcøbte.)

- If !þis judgrnent imposes a.fine or restihrtiotr, it is a couititiou of supervised release that the defendant pay in accoldance with the
Schedule of PayrneTrts sheetbf this judgrnent,

. Th-e dgféndant must comply with the sta¡rdard conditions that have been adopted by this court as lvell as with any addÍtional conditions
on the attached page.

STANDÁ.RÐ CONDITIONS OF SUPER\rTSION

not leave ofthe court or

officer for schoolilg, training or other

Tlre defeudant shall cornplv with the requil'ements of the Sex Offender Reeistration and Notification ÃctG2 U.S.C. 0 16901. etsea.l
as dlected by the probatìoi officer, theBureau ofPrisons,.or any state sefoffender registratiou agency iri which he ör she lesides,' '
worlcs, is a sfudent, or was convictéd of a qualiffing offense. (éheck, tf appttcable.)

åì

iì

I
8)
eJ

I0)

r l)
tzt
l3)

FOR OFFICIAÍ. USE ONLY. US PROBATION OTFICE

Upon a finding ofl a violation of probotion or supervised release, I understand that t¡re Coult may (l ) revoke supervision or (2) cxtend the tenn of
supervision and/or (3) modifl tlte conditíons of supervision.
These conditions have been iead to me, I fully unilerstand thenr and have been provided a copy.

(Signod)

Defcndant Date

US Prob¡tion Officer/Designated Wilness

Addendum 4
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Ao24sB Ñewrúr"thç;¡pp[s/r-ffi;loa Document ].64 Filed LL|O7l72 page 5 of 7 pagetD #:6L4
,Sheet 3C - Supervised Release

DEFENDANT: Robert O. Robinson
CASE NITMBER: I :1 1 cR00147.01 ML.

Judgrnent-Pagc 5 oî 7

SPECI.AI, CONDITIONS OX' SIIPERVISION

Iu addition, the defendant shall comply with tiie foliowing special condition(s):

1. The defendant is to participate in a program of mental health trealm.ent as directed and approved by the Probation office. The
defendant shall contribute to the costs of such treatment based on abllity to pay as determlned by the.probatlon officer,

2. The defendant shall participate in a program of subdtance abuse treatment (inpatlent or outpatient basls) as directed and approved
by the probatlon offìce. The defendant shall contribute to the costs of such treatment based on ability to pay as determined by the
probation officer,

3, The defendant shall partlcipate ln a program of substance abuse testing (up to 72 drug tests per year) as directed and approved by
the probation office, The defendant shall conhlbute to the costs of such testing based on ablllty to pay as determlned by the probation
officer,

Addendum 5
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LDA Document 164 Filed ILl07lI2 Page 6 of T.PagelD #: 6L5AO 2458
5 Penûlties

DEFENDA¡üT: Robert O. Robinson
CASE NUMBER: I :11GR00147-01ML

Judgment-Page 6 of 7

UIl.l.lVi.Uì l\¡J IYIUI\ -6'I'Alrt X f .UI.{IJ t l¡lÈi

The defendant lïust pay the total ori¡ninal nronetary penalties under the schedule ofpaynrents on Sheet 6.

TOT.A.LS
Assessment

$ 1,1oo,oo

Fiæ
$ 0.00

Total Loss*

Restitution
$ o.oo

Restitution Ordgred ErioritvorJercent¡gc

tr The detennination of restitution is defened until Ãn Anrcnded Judgnent ín a O'ìntlnal Case Øo z4sc) will be entered

after such detenniuation,

¡ The defendant shall malce restitution (including oorrununity restitution) to the following payees in the arnount listed below.

If the defendant makes a partial
the prioritv order or nercèntape
befrire the'United Stätes is paÍd.

Ì..{ame of Payee

Davment. eaoh oavee shall receive an auproximatelv olooortioned oavrnent. unless soecified otherwise in
þajyment colunìnbelow. However, puióuant to l8'U.S.C. g 3664(i);all nor-federalvictims must be paid

TOTALS 0.00 $ 0.00

tr Ifapplicable, Restitution amount ordet'ed pursuantto plea agreenrent $

tr Tlre defendant shall pay interest on restitution and a fine of¡no¡'e than $2,500, unless the restihrtion or fine is paid in full befot'e the

fiftee¡rth day afrer the date of the judgrnent, prusuant to 18 U.S.C, $ 3612(f). All of the payr¡etlt options on Sheet 6 rnay be subject

to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U,S.C, $ 3612(g),

E The coult detennined that the defendant does not have the abilip to pay interest and it is ordered that:

I the interest requirement is waived for the f] frne ! restitution.

D the interest requirement for the tr fine E restitution is modihed as follows:

+ Findings for the total amount of losses are requiled under Chapters 1094, I10, I l0A, and l13A ofTitle l8 for offenses comrnitted on or after
s¿ptembËi 13, i994, but before April 23, 1996.

ù

Addendum 6
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DEFENDANT: Robert O. Robinson
Judgment-Poge 7 of - 7._ _

CASE l:11CR00147-01ML

SCTIEÐULE OT'PAVMENTS

Haviug assessed the defendant's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties is due as follows:

A ff lultp su¡r payment of $ 1'100.00 due immediately

not later tha.n

iu accordauce E C, il D, n I F below; or

B tr Payrnent to'begin immediately (nay be combiued with n C, I D, or I F below); or

C tr Payment in equal (e.g., v,eekly, nonthly, qwterly) irutallments of $ over a period of
(e,g., nonths ot'years), to conunence (e,g., i0 or 60 døys) after the date ofthis judgureut; or

D tr Paymeut in equal (e.g,, veekly, monthly, qtnrlerþt) iustall¡neuts of $ over a period of
(e.g.,.nonths o,'!eaÆ), to conr¡rence (e,g,, 30 or 60 dcrys) after ¡elease fronr imprisonntent to a

. term o.f supervision; or

E tr Paynent durÌug tho tenn of supeivised release will cciiniuence witlú¡r ' (e,g,, 30 or 60 days) aftet release frÖm

itnprisonm.ent. The court lvill sel the payment plan based ou a¡r assessment of the defendaut's abilip to pay At that time; or

F . tr Special iustructions regardiug thb'payment of cli¡uiual monetary penalties:

The defendant shall.r'eceive c¡edit for all payrnents pr:eviousiy urade towa¡d any uiurinal mouetary penalties imposed,

n Joint and Sevelal

Defenda¡rt and Co-Defeudaut NarDes and.Case Nutnbers (ítrcltding defendant nunbet), Total Amowrt, JoÍnt aud Several Amount,
ànd corresponding payee, ifappropriate, '

n The defendant shall pay tlre cost ofprosecutiou,

fl ttre defendant shall pay the following coult cost(s):

E The defendarrt shall fo¡feit the defeudant's interest in the following properly to the Uuited States:

Paymeuts shall be applied in the following order: (l) assessme¡rt, (2) restihrtion pri¡cipql, (3) restitutiorr,interest, (4) fine principal,
(5ffure interest, (6)ïonunurity restitutioñ, (7) perialties, and (8)-còÉts, includinf cost-ofproóecution and court coit3.

'of,
E, ot'

tr
n

Uuless the court has ex¡ressly ordered otherw'ise. if this iudsment irnposes imprisonmeut. þayurent of c¡irni¡al moneta¡y þenalties ís due du¡ing
imprisorunent. All crì¡ninal rnonetary penaltiiís, excðpt ürose payments rñade thlough the Federal Bureau of Prísóns' I¡mate Financia-l
Re'sponsibiliry Progtarn, a¡e made to thdclerk of the coirt.

Addendum 7
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DISTRICT OF RHODE ISLAND

UNITED STATES OTAMERICA
v.

Robert O. Robinson

.TUDGMENT IN A CRTMINAI, CASE
(For Revocation of Probation or Supewised Release)

Case Number: l:01CR00103-0lML

USM Number: 05065"070

Matthew B. Smith, Esq.

)
)
)
)

)

)
)

)

i-ñT.q
,:!:'' ¿v

Ë,'. - - ìl:iTl
I'¡

liri.t I jll.L$

^úf
a/k/a "Robbie"

'- *'---¿¿'

T'HE DEF'ENDA,I\T:

tr aùnitted guilt to violation of condition(s)

d ** found in violation of condition(s)

Defendunt's Attonìey

-:ÏJiffJpervision

Tte defendant is adjudicated gujlry oftbese violatjons:

Violation Number

Standard Condition
Violatlon No, 1

tr The defendant l¡as not violated condition(s)

Last Four Digits of Defendant's Soc. Sec. No,: 9373

Defendant's Year of Bírth: 1-982

Cify and State of Defendant's Residence:

Woonsocket, Rl

Naturc of Violation

The defendant shall not comrnit another federal, state or local crlme

Yislsüon Erdcd

June 2,2011

ç--
e

>
I

co

tÉ,

.!
.1,.-l
rli.:
.)
'--t

3
r-
i"'n

toP
l:. :t'¡

Tþe defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 tluough 2 - ofthisjudgment. The se4tence is irhpoeea

tle Sentencing Reform Act of 1984. ! "l
',,r1:. Ð.

E
pursuant
w

-.-.. Li u Cr:
and is disclurged as to such violation(s) cþnditionq. -

' :1,.-

It is ordered tha¿ $e defenda¡t must notify the United Ståtes anomey fo¡ this dist¡ict witiún 30 days of any qliange otname, residence,
ormailinsaddrcssuntilallfines,restitution,costs,-andspecialassqssments,iqÍposedbytìrisjudgmentarefullypaid. IfördÈiredtopayrestitution,
tlrc defen-dant must notify the cóu¡t and Urüted States a-ttorney of material cltarges in econontic circumstances. . >

October 31,2012:.-.1 , q? .,.)

Mary M. Lisi

Nsme ¡lld Title of Judgc

Addendum I
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Robert O. Robinson
CASE NUI\4BER: 1 :OlCROO103-01 ML

IMPRISONMENT
Tl¡e defendarrt is hereby conrnritted to tlre custody ofthe United States Bureau ofPrisons to be imprisoned for a

total term of:

24 months lncarceration to be served consecutively to the term lmposed ln CR11.147.01 on 10/81/2012

! The coult rnalces the following recommerrdatious to the Bureau of Prisons:

/ flt. defendant is le¡nancled to the custody of the United States Marslral,

I Th; d'efendant shall surrender, to the United States À4ar.shal for this distr,ictl

lat ¡ a,¡rì. E p,rn, on

E as notified by the United Stätes Marslral

E Thedefendantshallsurrenderforserviceofseuteuceattlreinstitutio¡rdesignatedbytheBureauofPrisons

E bcfole 2 p:tn. on

E as notified by the United States Marshal,

I as notified by the Plobation or Pretrial Services Office.

RETURN

I have cxecuted tlris judgment as follows:

Delendant delíveled on to

, wíth a certified copy of this judgment,

Addendum 9


